1979

Utah Department of Transportation v. Ira Hatch et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action in eminent domain commenced by the Utah Department of Transportation. The State seeks to condemn certain outdoor advertising signs owned by the appellants pursuant to the Utah Highway Beautification Act, §27-12-136.1, Utah Code Ann., 1953, as amended.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Respondent, the Utah Department of Transportation, moved for an order of Immediate Occupancy pursuant to the provisions of §78-34-9, Utah Code Ann., 1953, as amended. The lower court granted respondent's Motion for Immediate Occupancy, finding that

the right of eminent domain carried with it the right of immediate occupancy.

Appellants petitioned this Court for an order granting an intermediate appeal pursuant to Rule 72(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure which was granted by this Court.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek to have this court reverse the trial court's order granting Immediate Occupancy on the grounds that the trial court abused its discretion and erred as a matter of law by failing to properly apply the statutory standard to respondent's Motion for Immediate Occupancy.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1967, the State of Utah passed the Utah Highway Beautification Act. The Act is codified in Section 27-12-136.1 et seq., Utah Code Ann., 1953, as amended. Since that time there have been periodic amendments. The Act was passed by the Utah State legislature in response to the Federal Highway Beautification Act, often referred to as the Ladybird Johnson Act, the purpose of which was to regulate and control outdoor advertising along federally financed highways. The federal government in the Federal Highway Beautification Act required each state to enact by statute or by rules and regulations sufficient authority to "effectively control outdoor advertising" or suffer a 10% penalty on all federal highway funds. In the event that control necessitated acquisition by means of eminent domain, the federal government would pay 75 percent of the condemnation award and the state would fund 25 percent.

The Utah Highway Beautification Act does not prohibit the maintenance or erection of outdoor advertising signs but merely controls their location, size, and spacing. Upon passage of the Utah Outdoor Advertising Act certain outdoor advertising signs became nonconforming due to their location, size, or spacing. For example, signs were not allowed in residential and agricultural areas. These signs then became nonconforming and subject to removal. However, outdoor advertising signs are allowed in certain commercial areas; areas which are otherwise unzoned but have actual commercial usage; and in other areas zoned for outdoor advertising and related highway uses. The Act provides that nonconforming signs are to be removed by eminent domain. In the 12 years that this Act has been in existence, the State of Utah has removed, by eminent domain, contract, purchase, or gift, approximately 80 percent of the outdoor advertising structures which are nonconforming under the Act and subject to removal pursuant to the control provisions of the Act.

On the 7th day of June, 1978, the State of Utah commenced condemnation proceedings against the appellants. Yet it wasn't until the 11th day of December, 1978, that the State filed its motion for immediate occupancy, which was subsequently ruled upon by Judge Christofferson on May 23, 1979.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE LOWER COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW
AS TO THE ESSENTIAL REQUISITES FOR
IMMEDIATE OCCUPANCY

Appellants' interlocutory appeal was predicated upon the premise that the lower court's order granting immediate occupancy was incorrect as a matter of law and an abuse of discretion and should therefore be reversed.

In the absence of an express statutory provision, a condemnor may only take possession of the condemnee's property after a full trial on the merits of the condemnation and the resulting damage. Some states have enacted provisions for immediate occupancy or "quick-take" which may be granted in appropriate circumstances. Because of the nature of this action, in derogation of the rights of private citizens, these statutes are strictly construed. (See, e.g., Department of Public Works v. Vogt, 366 N.E.2d 310 (Ill. 1977) and Town of Messena v. Niagra Mohawk Power Co., 383 N.Y. Supp. 2d 834 (N.Y. 1976).) The purpose of these "quick-take" statutes is to provide for immediate possession when delay would have adverse effects upon the condemnor such as increased costs and contractual obligations. (Vogt, supra.)

In Utah, the statute authorizing immediate occupancy, Utah Code Ann. §78-34-9 reads in pertinent part:

The court or a judge thereof shall take proof by affidavit or otherwise of the value of the premises sought to be condemned and of the damages which will accrue from the condemnation and of the reasons

for requiring a speedy occupation, and shall grant or refuse the motion according to the equity of the case and the relative damages which may accrue to the parties. (emphasis supplied).

The lower court erred in granting respondent's Motion in that the court, in its Memorandum Decision, failed to weigh the equities and reasons for immediacy required by statute when it granted the state's motion. The Order of the Court reads in its entirety:

The Court having reviewed the memoranda in these matters and also the transcript in the Davis County case of Utah Department of Transportation, plaintiff v. Grant Lloyd, defendant. The Court finds there is a right to condemn and with it the right for immediate occupancy. The Court, therefore, grants the requests for orders of immediate occupancy to Utah Department of Transportation in all four cases.

That ruling is improper in light of the requisites of §78-34-9 which require proof of necessity for immediacy. The State presented no proof of necessity for occupation and no proof of damage if the order were denied while appellants submitted affidavits of damage if the order were granted. Simply because the condemning party has authority to condemn does not, ipso facto, give it the right of immediate occupancy without a further offering of proof of necessity for immediacy and resultant damages.

In addition, the State made no showing of any need for speedy occupation or of any pecuniary or other damages which would result from delay, nor indeed any showing at all of need beyond the purposes of the challenged statute.

Appellants' will, by immediate occupancy, suffer immediate damage to their property and to their motels, which depend on travelers attracted by the signs for a large share of their business. (See Appellants' Affidavits).

Thus, while traditionally the discretion of the lower court in these matters must be given some weight, in this case the court totally abused its discretion by rejecting all of the evidence submitted by the appellants and accepted the State's premise, offered without proof or authority, that it is entitled to immediate occupancy whenever it wants.

The Court not only failed to weigh the relative damage to the parties, it didn't even consider them. The Court also failed to inquire into the reasons for immediacy as required by statute.

Therefore, regardless of whether or not the State is entitled to immediate occupancy or even to condemn, the lower court's decision is improper and inadequate when measured up to the standards of proof required by the statute.

II.

IMMEDIATE OCCUPANCY IS AN IMPROPER MEASURE IN THIS MATTER AND WILL RESULT IN IRREPAR- ABLE INJURY TO APPELLANTS

For purposes of this action, appellants admitted that the Utah Outdoor Advertising Act and more specifically §27-12-136.11(1), Utah Code Ann., appeared to grant to the Department of Transportation the power to condemn and eliminate outdoor advertising by means of eminent domain. Appellants do not concede

that this power is being lawfully exercised. However, respondent would have this Court believe that the question stops there and that the State may condemn at will. The power of eminent domain, however, is a creature of statute and its use must be compatible with its statutory source.

Compliance with the statute is even more important where the state would condemn property under a quick-taking statute. This is true because the constitutional rights of the property owner are more easily made secondary in the State's haste to acquire the property. Additionally, considerable damage would be suffered by a property owner during the interim period from the time when the State condemns prematurely to the time when the property owner may eventually prove that the taking is wrongful and unlawful.

In this regard Utah law has provided certain safeguards under its quick-taking statute, §78-34-9, Utah Code Ann. That statute reads in pertinent part:

The court or a judge thereof shall take proof by affidavit or otherwise of the value of the premises sought to be condemned and of the damages which will accrue from the condemnation, and of the reasons for requiring a speedy occupation, and shall grant or refuse the motion according to the equity of the case and the relative damages which may accrue to the parties.

Appellants do not contend that the Department of Transportation failed to provide the Court with proof of its evaluation of the property value as of the date of condemnation. Appellants are certain, however, that respondent did not and cannot prevail upon

the showing of necessity for speedy occupation nor upon the equities of the case and relative damages.

A. There is no Pressing Need to Justify Immediate Occupancy.

The quick-taking provisions are not merely a bonus remedy which the legislature grants to the condemning authority. They serve a particular and definite purpose. That purpose has been stated succinctly at 29A C.J.S., Eminent Domain, §220(2) p.966:

The declaration of taking is collateral, provisional, and supplemental to the condemnation proceedings, and its purpose is to provide a summary method for acquiring by the condemnor the title to and use of, the lands on short notice in order that public projects might be expedited and at the same time preserve to the owner all the protection of due process and to assure him just compensation.

In Department of Public Works v. Vogt, 366 N.E.2d 310 (Ill. 1977) the Court there held that a "quick take" or immediate occupancy is designed to be utilized only to "avoid delay in needed construction projects."

In one Utah case which was brought under Comp. Laws Utah 1919, §7339, the quick-taking predecessor statute, this Court held that a mining company with eminent domain power made a showing of need for immediate taking. The company had condemned rights of way and easements over the defendant's mining claim in order to excavate a tunnel and lay pipeline to collect copper bearing waters precipitating through plaintiff's overburden which was laying on defendant's mining claims. A showing was made that the copper bearing waters would produce annual net profits of Twelve Thousand to Fourteen Thousand Dollars and that without the pipeline

that water would be lost and the copper therefrom not recoverable. See Utah Copper Company v. Montana-Bingham Consolidated Mining Company, 69 Utah 423, 255 P. 672 (1926). The need for immediacy was evident in the case.

There is probably little argument from property owners whose land is condemned under the quick-taking provision of Utah law when construction of a freeway or dam or some other public project is imminent. Frequently in those cases the State has made contracts with construction companies so that the State becomes liable for penalties where the State causes delays. The State may also want to move quickly on a project so as to avoid rising costs of construction. In order to avoid these secondary effects the State must expedite condemnation of the necessary parcels of land. In such circumstances, the State no doubt can make a clear showing of an immediate necessity for the land. No such showing can be made by the State in the instant matter, and indeed the State has not even attempted such a futile task in its memoranda to the lower Court. Here respondent is under no contractual obligations with any kind of private companies which would impose a penalty on the state were it unable to obtain land by condemnation by a specific date. Respondent faces no increased construction costs, because no construction is planned. This fact also negates any argument by respondent that appellants' outdoor signs impede some construction project.

The State may also be concerned about inflation and the rising cost of real estate. Such concern may prompt the State to

act in condemnation matters with all expediency. This concern is of no moment in the instant matter since a summons has been served in the matter and, under authority of §78-34-11, Utah Code Ann., damages are assessed as of the date of service of the summons. Respondent cannot show a pressing need for the reason that inflation may cause damages to amass in the interim.

It is true that the U.S. Government will penalize, under authority of 23 U.S.C. §131, the Highway Beautification Act of 1965, states which do not pass laws to control outdoor advertising. Since this state has made provisions for control of outdoor advertising signs, Utah is not threatened by the Federal Highway Administrator with a reduction in Federal Revenue Sharing. Furthermore, the Federal Regulations specifically state that signs are not to be removed immediately:

- (3) Where it would not interfere with the State's operations, the State should program sign removal projects to minimize disruption of business. (23 CFR §750.304).

Finally, there is nothing in the Federal regulations that require an immediate taking, on the contrary the federal act merely provides that the state provide legislation which regulates outdoor advertising and that the federal government will provide 75 percent of the compensation when the sign is removed.

Respondent has chosen to ignore more than two hundred and fifty (250) other nonconforming signs throughout the State. (See affidavit of Raymond Paschke.) This itself would seem to indicate that there really is no need to hurry with condemnation of the

outdoor advertising signs in the State of Utah. It especially strengthens the contention that condemnation of appellants' particular road signs will not aid the State in achieving some pressing goal that requires immediate removal.

Additionally, the Utah Outdoor Advertising Act became law in this state in 1967. The State certainly has felt no immediate need up to the present to condemn road signs, a fact which stands as an insurmountable obstacle to any contention which respondent might now fabricate as to the need for immediate occupancy. The act itself at §27-12-136.10 granted a moratorium on removal of nonconforming road signs for a period of five years until December 31, 1972. Clearly the Act recognized that the State was not under any obligation to meet a specific deadline with regard to removal of nonconforming signs.

The Act provides that no condemnation of road signs can take place unless there are immediate funds available to pay the compensation required. (See §27-12-136.11.) This section, too, underlines the realization on the part of the legislature that condemnation would not take place by any specific date but could possibly be a gradual process as funds became available.

Finally, respondent could advance no credible argument to the effect that the Wasatch Range has been made ugly by the existence of appellants' road signs and that the deadline for beautifying the Wasatch Range is January, 1979. The Act itself does not set a timetable for the achievement of aesthetic beauty in the State of Utah, if indeed this Act would even achieve such a goal.

Furthermore, Section 27-12-136.5(2)(b)(iv), Utah Code Ann., 1953 as amended, provides specifically that signs are not allowed in scenic areas "designated as such by the state highway department or other state agency having and exercising such authority." This clearly exhibits a legislative intent that signs are not aesthetically unpleasant or degrading to the environment unless the Commission itself finds that the area is "scenic" in nature and therefore should be designated a scenic area. In that case, pursuant to statute and regulatory power, the State Department of Transportation has the authority to grant and order such an area to become a designated scenic area and signs are not allowed in such areas. Absent the declaration and finding by the Department of Transportation after a full public hearing, when competing interests may be heard, the signs are presumed, by the legislature and by statute, to be aesthetically proper. Accordingly, respondent's theory that signs may be condemned without a declaration of a scenic area for aesthetic purposes is improper under the express wording of this section of the Utah Highway Beautification Act. This in and of itself distinguishes the Utah Beautification Act from other state statutes and therefore makes such case authority upholding various state highway beautification acts as irrelevant to the present matter.

The purpose of quick-taking provisions is to expedite the construction of public projects so as to save the State increased cost because of penalty provisions in construction contracts or because of inflation. The value of property for purposes of

condemnation is determined as of the date the summons in the matter is served, so respondent in this case cannot claim harm in that regard if a premature occupancy is not allowed. Respondent faces no dangers of increased costs on a project nor does respondent face the danger of loss of federal revenues if an immediate taking is not granted. The State simply can show no reason why immediate occupancy is warranted in this case. Respondent therefore has not met its burden of proof which is required under the quick-taking provisions.

B. The Equities of the Case Weigh Heavily
in Favor of a Denial of the Motion for
Immediate Occupancy.

A second requirement of the quick-taking provision of the condemnation statutes is that the court must weigh the equities between the parties to ascertain the relative damages.

As pointed out above respondent will suffer no damage whatsoever if an immediate taking is not granted. The State has no timetable to meet which would justify immediate occupancy.

On the other hand, appellants will suffer irreparable harm if the state is allowed to remove appellants' advertising signs. First of all, the physical components of the signs--lumber, metal, and paint--are expensive. Appellants' signs will be damaged in removal and storage, and possibly reinstallation.

Secondly, these road signs are the only means of immediate information to the traveling public as to the location of appellant's motels. Appellants will lose revenues from members of the traveling public who are unable to find the motel or who are

unaware of it because the State has been granted an order of immediate occupancy. Appellants depend to a great extent upon these road signs for a continuation of their businesses. (See affidavits of Appellants). In the event that the road signs are ultimately condemned and removed as a result of a ruling favorable to the Department of Transportation in the main condemnation suit, appellants will be forced, at great expense of time and money, to find alternative means of informing the traveling public of the existence of their motels. The fact that this result may ultimately occur, however, should not work to the State's advantage in its attempt to condemn the road signs prematurely through the quick-taking procedure. Appellants should not be made to suffer hardship as a result of action by the State until it is absolutely clear that the State's doings are sanctioned by the law and this Court and then only after a proper showing at trial.

One area of the law which requires a court to balance the equities between the parties is with regard to preliminary injunctions. The courts frequently use the "balance of hardship" test as defined in Ohio Oil Company v. Conway, 279 U.S. 813, 815, 49 S.Ct. 256, 73 L. Ed. 972 (1929):

Where the questions presented by an application for an interlocutory injunction are grave, and the injury to the moving party will be certain and irreparable if the application be denied and the final decree be in his favor, while if the injunction be granted the injury to the opposing party, even if the final decree be in his favor, will be inconsiderable, or may be adequately indemnified by a bond, the injunction usually will be granted.

if appellants had sought a preliminary injunction in this matter to prevent the State from proceeding with the condemnation of the outdoor advertising signs, the trial court would have been called upon to balance the equities of the case just as it is called upon now under §78-34-9, Utah Code Ann., the quick-taking provision. If the court were to apply the "balance of hardship" test, cited above, the court would see that appellants have presented grave questions by their Answer as to the constitutionality of the Utah Outdoor Advertising Act. The injury to appellants, if immediate occupancy is allowed, has been outlined above. And finally it has been shown that the State will suffer no injury by having to wait for a complete airing of the matter in a trial.

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