1979

# Utah Department of Transportation v. Ira Hatch et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

The purpose of this act is to provide the statutory basis for the regulation of outdoor advertising consistent with zoning principles and standards and the public policy of this state in providing public safety, health, welfare, convenience and enjoyment of public travel, to protect the public investment in such highways, and to ensure that information in the specific interest of the traveling public is presented safely and effectively.

The Act then specifies what signs may and may not be permitted along controlled highways under the Act, U.C.A. 27-12-136.4, and provides for the removal of nonconforming signs by eminent domain or other lawful means, U.C.A. 27-12-136.11. Respondent submits that the Act, on its face, serves important, articulated goals of safety, welfare, and financial and esthetic preservation by means of a well-defined system

of regulation, and that Appellants suggested nothing which would have justified the lower court's acting as a super-legislature by ruling the statutory scheme unreasonable. No dispute exists in this case as to the fact that Appellants' signs are nonconforming under the Act.

Regarding Appellants' charge of arbitrariness, it is the Utah Legislature, and not Respondent, which promulgated the statutory criteria for nonconforming signs; also, evidence before the lower court indicated that more than 87% of nonconforming signs had been acquired for removal prior to hearing in these cases (Affidavit of Dean W. Holbrook, appended to Plaintiff's Reply Memorandum). There simply is no legal substance in Appellants' due process arguments. (See also Plaintiff's Memorandum, pp. 5-7, for decisions from other jurisdictions upholding outdoor advertising laws under due process attack.)

#### EQUAL PROTECTION

Appellants argue that the Act's distinction between the permissibility of signs in commercial and noncommercial areas may not be reasonable, and therefore violates the equal protection doctrine.

As to any legislative classification, including those pertaining to outdoor advertising, the equal protection

standard set out by the United States Supreme Court in Williamson v. Lee Optical of Oklahoma, 348 U.S. 483, 489, 75 S.Ct. 461, 465 (1955), applies:

The problem of legislative classification is a perennial one, admitting of no doctrinaire definition. Evils in the same field may be of different dimensions and proportions, requiring different remedies. Or so the legislature may think.... Or the reform may take one step at a time, addressing itself to the phase of the problem which seems most acute to the legislative mind.... The legislature may select one phase of one field and apply a remedy there, neglecting the others.... The prohibition of the Equal Protection Clause goes no further than the invidious discrimination.

In the present cases, it is perfectly reasonable to suppose that the Utah Legislature concluded that regulation of outdoor advertising along interstate and primary highways would serve the public safety and welfare, by protecting the public investment in such highways and preserving the scenic beauty of adjoining lands. The means adopted by the Utah Act are reasonably related to that purpose, and apply across-the-board to all who, like Appellants, own nonconforming signs. The district court properly refrained from second-guessing the Legislature's choice of statutory means in effectuating valid public purposes, and Appellants' argument on the basis of equal protection must also fail.

In addition, the Court's attention is drawn to pages 8-11 of Plaintiff's Memorandum, which discusses other states' outdoor advertising laws which have been upheld under equal protection attack.

#### FREEDOM OF SPEECH

Appellants also aver that the Utah Act violates free speech (Appellants' Brief, p. 19), and in support of this contention, cite one 1977 unpublished opinion from a California trial court. This argument ignores repeated holdings by state and federal courts, including the California Supreme Court, that billboard laws do not violate First Amendment guarantees. Most recently, in Metromedia, Inc. v. City of San Diego, 23 Cal.3d 762, 592 P.2d 728 (1979), the California Court upheld a city ordinance that, far more harshly than the Utah Act, would ban substantially all off-site billboards from an entire city. The Court reviewed other jurisdictions' decisions, and found that a "unanimity of published decisions supports the proposition that such an ordinance does not abridge freedom of speech." Id. at 742. While a rehearing has been granted in Metromedia, id. at 728, Respondent submits that the reasoning of the majority and concurring opinions is even more persuasive in the present case, where a less harsh regulatory scheme is at issue.

The Metromedia court cited Suffolk Outdoor Advertising Company v. Hulse, 43 N.Y.2d 483, 373 N.E.2d 263 (1977), in which a community-wide ban on off-site billboards was upheld under First Amendment attack. An appeal from that decision was dismissed for want of a substantial federal question by the U.S. Supreme Court, 99 S.Ct. 66 (1978). The Metromedia court stated:

Since the Supreme Court regards such a dismissal as a decision on the merits (Hicks v. Miranda (1975) 422 U.S. 332, 95 S.Ct. 2281, 45 L.Ed.2d 225), we conclude that the high court has resolved that its commercial speech cases are not inconsistent with ordinances prohibiting off-site billboards. The dismissal of the appeal in Suffolk Outdoor Advertising authoritatively establishes that such ordinances do not violate the First Amendment. 592 P.2d at 739 (emphasis added).

Precisely the same principle applies to the U.S. Supreme Court's dismissal on the merits of an appeal in Newman Signs, Inc. v. Hjelle, 268 N.W. 2d 741 (N.D., 1978), appeal dismissed, 99 S.Ct. 1205 (1979). In that case, the North Dakota Supreme Court upheld a state outdoor advertising act, identical in substance to the Utah Outdoor Advertising Act, and held that the act did not violate the First Amendment (see Plaintiff's Memorandum, pp. 15-16).

The Metromedia court also found that the ordinance did not seek to suppress the content of any advertiser's

message; served significant governmental interests (i.e., traffic safety and community esthetics) unrelated to the suppression of free speech; and left open adequate alternate means of communication; and therefore did not abridge freedom of speech. 592 P.2d at 740. Respondent submits that this analysis is of even greater validity when applied to the Utah Act, involving, as it does, the prohibition of billboards only in certain defined areas.

Also, in State v. Lotze, 92 Wash.2d, 52, 593 P.2d 811, appeal filed, 48 U.S.L.W. 3250 (1979), an opinion published since memoranda were filed with the district court in this case, the Washington Supreme Court held that the Washington outdoor advertising law, identical in all pertinent substantive aspects to the Utah Act, does not violate the First Amendment, even when applied to signs containing non-commercial, political messages. The Court found that the State's concern with traffic safety was sufficiently compelling to outweigh the "minimal restraint placed on advertising by the law," and that the "statutory scheme represents a reasonable place and manner limitation on speech leaving ample alternative channels of communication...." Id. at 815

Rather than providing a recitation here of the dozen



or so recent, well-reasoned state and federal court decisions which hold that billboard regulations do no violate freedom of speech, Respondent directs the Court's attention to the cases cited at pages 12-18 of Plaintiff's Memorandum. Of particular precedential value here are the decisions in John Donnelly & Sons v. Mallar, 453 F. Supp. 1272 (D.Me., 1978), Newman Signs, Inc. v. Hjelle, 268 N.W. 2d 741 (N.D., 1978), appeal dismissed, 99 S.Ct. 1205 (1979), State v. National Advertising Company, 356 So.2d 557 (La. App., 1978), and Howard v. State Department of Highways of Colorado, 478 F.2d 581 (10th Cir., 1973), in which beautification acts substantially the same as Utah's, enacted pursuant to the federal highway beautification statute (23 U.S.C. 131), have been uniformly upheld as not violative of freedom of speech.

UTAH CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE XIII, SECTION 13

Article XIII, Section 13 of the Utah Constitution state in pertinent part:

The proceeds from the imposition of any license tax, registration fee, driver education tax, or other charge related to the operation of any motor vehicle upon any public highway in this state, and the proceeds from the imposition of any excise tax on gasoline or other liquid motor fuel used for propelling such vehicles, except for statutory refunds and adjustments allowed thereunder and for costs of collection and

administration, shall be used exclusively for highway purposes as follows:

(1) The construction, improvement, repair and maintenance of city streets, county roads, and state highways, including but not restricted to payment for property taken for or damaged by rights of way, and for administrative costs necessarily incurred for said purposes....

Appellants have contended that expenditures under the Outdoor Advertising Act would constitute an unlawful diversion of state highway funds under this section (Appellants' Brief, p. 20; Eleventh Defense in Answer).

Appellants apparently overlook the fact that state highway funds may be expended for the "improvement ... and maintenance of ... state highways...." The clear purpose of this section is to prevent the diversion of highway funds to non-highway-related expenditures. On the other hand, expenditures authorized under the Utah Outdoor Advertising Act are intended to improve and maintain the safety and scenic beauty of Utah's highways. The breadth of the terms "improvement" and "maintenance" in the constitutional provision indicates that its purpose is not to prevent the Legislature from directing expenditures validly related to protecting the public investment in highways and enhancing the safety and enjoyment of highway travel.

The purposes of the Utah Outdoor Advertising Act, as enumerated in U.C.A. 27-12-136.2, are, inter alia, to

provide for the regulation of outdoor advertising in the interests of the public's safety, welfare, and convenience and enjoyment of public travel;"

... to protect the public investment in such highways, to preserve the natural scenic beauty of lands bordering on such highways, and to ensure that information in the specific interest of the traveling public is presented safely and effectively.

Plaintiff submits that these purposes clearly fall within the purview of highway "improvement and maintenance." It cannot be reasonably argued that Article XIII, Section 13 entirely prevents the Utah Department of Transportation from making expenditures for the safety, convenience, and enjoyment of highway users, or the preservation of the economic and scenic value of highways in the State.

In Newman v. Hjelle, 133 N.W.2d 549 (N.D., 1965), an argument substantially the same as Defendant's was rejected by the North Dakota Supreme Court. There, a taxpayer sought to enjoin the expenditure of state highway funds for the acquisition of outdoor advertising outside of the highway right-of-way, alleging that such an expenditure would violate Article 56 of the North Dakota Constitution. That provision, very similar to the Utah provision, states that proceeds from motor fuel taxes and from license and registration fees are to be expended "solely for construction,

repair and maintenance of public highways...." The Court stated:

It is clear the purpose of the amendment was to prevent any use of the earmarked revenues for anything but highway purposes and not to restrict the terms of the amendment by a narrow construction of the purpose for which the revenues may be used within the area designated. Id. at 557.

On its face, the Utah constitutional provision serves the same purpose, and a similar rule of construction should be applied to the Utah provision. It should further be stressed that, on the basis of the constitutional language alone, the Utah provision gives even stronger justification for the validity of the proposed condemnation expenditure than the North Dakota provision examined in Newman v. Hjelle. The latter section allowed expenditures only "for construction, reconstruction, repair and maintenance of public highways...." The Utah constitutional provision, on the other hand, allows expenditures of highway funds for the "construction, improvement, repair and maintenance of ... state highways...." As indicated above, it is evident that the purposes of the Utah Outdoor Advertising Act (traffic safety, convenience and enjoyment of travel, esthetic enhancement) fall well within the broad standard of highway "improvement." Expenditures under the Utah

Outdoor Advertising Act do not violate the constitutional provision, and the district court was fully justified in finding the state's right to condemn unimpaired on this basis.

#### ESTOPPEL

Appellants have also argued that Respondent should be estopped from condemning the subject signs by reason of the previous issuance of permits for the signs (Appellants' Brief, p. 20; Twelfth Defense in Answer). The district court properly rejected this argument as a matter of law.

First, the general rule regarding the application of equitable estoppel to governmental actions has been stated as follows:

An equitable estoppel ordinarily may not be invoked against a government or public agency functioning in its governmental capacity; but where the elements of an estoppel are present it may be asserted against the government when acting in its proprietary capacity. 31 C.J.S., Estoppel 138, p. 675.

An argument similar to Defendant's was advanced by the plaintiffs in John Donnelly & Sons v. Mallar, 453 F. Supp. 1272 (D. Me., 1978). There it was claimed that the State of Maine should be estopped from requiring removal of off-premise signs for which permits had been issued under previous legislation. Rejecting that argument, the court noted its adherence to "the general rule that when

the legislature acts in its governmental or sovereign capacity, as opposed to a business or proprietary role, the doctrine of estoppel is inapplicable." 453 F.Supp. at 1282.

In the present case, it is indisputable that the State is acting in its sovereign, and not in its proprietary, capacity. The simple fact that Plaintiff has been legislatively authorized to exercise the eminent domain power demonstrates that the State is performing a governmental function in regulating billboards, and not merely acting as a property owner.

Second, the mere fact that Appellants may have previously received permits for their signs, in accordance with the Utah Outdoor Advertising Act, provides no basis for invoking equitable estoppel. By renewing Appellants' permits, in accordance with statutory requirement (see U.C.A. 27-12-136.7), Respondent certainly made no representation that Appellants' billboards could remain in place forever. Appellants must be presumed to have known that their nonconforming signs were subject to condemnation at any time under U.C.A. 27-12-136.11.

This Court has previously stated:

The doctrine of equitable estoppel does not operate in favor of one who has knowledge of the essential facts or who has convenient

and available means of obtaining such knowledge. Morgan v. Board of State Lands, 549 P.2d 695, 697 n. 4 (Utah, 1976).

In the present case, Respondent has only followed the procedures dictated by statute in issuing licenses (U.C.A. 27-12-136.7) until such time that Appellants' nonconforming signs could be condemned (U.C.A. 27-12-136.10-11), and no suggestion has been made by Appellants that such procedure was not followed. Sign owners must be presumed to have available means of learning what the statutes on signs provide. In short, no basis has been suggested or exists for estopping these actions, and the lower court properly disregarded Appellants' argument on this score.

Other courts' decisions, rejecting efforts to estop enforcement of billboard laws, are discussed in Plaintiff's Memorandum, at page 28.

#### 23 U.S.C. 131(o)

Appellants seek to rely on 23 U.S.C. 131(o), a section of the federal highway beautification act, which states:

The Secretary may approve the request of a State to permit retention in specific areas defined by such State of directional signs, displays, and devices lawfully erected under State law in force at the time of their erection which do not conform to the requirements of subsection (c), where such signs, displays, and devices are in existence on the date of enactment of this subsection and where the State demonstrates that such signs, displays, and devices (1) provide directional

information about goods and services in the interest of the travelling public, and (2) are such that removal would work a substantial economic hardship in such defined area.

Appellants advance the peculiar argument that, by not making application under this section, the State has failed to exhaust its administrative remedies, and that this so-called failure somehow adversely affects Respondent's eminent domain power (Appellants' Brief, p. 20).

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